O.A. 11-4-91

2 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 77,247

COX CABLE CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

GULF POWER COMPANY.

Respondent.

PROCEEDING FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

> **INITIAL BRIEF OF** PETITIONER, COX CABLE CORPORATION

> > David H. Burns Mark E. Holcomb Huey Guilday, Kuersteiner & Tucker, P.A. Post Office Box 1794 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-7091

Attorneys for Petitioner, Cox Cable Corporation

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Cox Cable Corporation, third-party defendant/fourth-party plaintiff in the trial court and appellee in the court below, is referred to as "Cox Cable." Respondent, Gulf Power Company, defendant/third-party plaintiff in the trial court and appellant in the court below, is referred to as "Gulf Power." Burnup & Sims Cable Com, Inc., fourth-party defendant in the trial court, is referred to as "Burnup & Sims." Plaintiff, Michael D. Lewis, is referred to as "Lewis." Burnup & Sims and Lewis are not parties in this appeal.

References to the Record on Appeal appear as "[R.]," with citation to the appropriate page in the record. References to the Supplemental Record on Appeal appear as "[SR.]." References to the transcript of the hearing on Cox Cable's Second Amended Motion for Summary Judgment (part of the stipulated Supplemental Record on Appeal) appear as "[T.]." References to the Appendix attached hereto appear as "[A.]."

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

This case is before the Court on issues raised in Gulf Power's third-party complaint against Cox Cable. The action arises out of personal injuries suffered by Lewis while installing television cable on Gulf Power's poles.

Cox Cable and Gulf Power entered into a written agreement on January 1, 1978, which authorized Cox Cable to attach its cables, wires and appliances to Gulf Power's utility poles. [R. 172; A. 1] Cox Cable pays Gulf Power an annual fee for that right, based upon the cost of the poles and Gulf Power's construction, operating and maintenance costs. [R. 176] Cox Cable hired Burnup & Sims, a cable installation contractor, to perform the installation. [R. 170] Burnup & Sims was known to Cox Cable to be well-qualified in the installation of cable television systems on electrical poles and one of the largest and most established cable installation companies in the nation. [R. 171]

Prior to the incident giving rise to this action, Gulf Power contacted Cox Cable regarding certain problems with Burnup & Sims' work, including incidents where guy wires on Gulf Power's poles were reportedly overtightened to the point of causing problems with power distribution. [R. 101] On each occasion, Cox Cable contacted managing agents for Burnup & Sims and informed them of the reported problems and conditions they were creating on Gulf Power's facilities. [R. 101] Burnup & Sims responded on each occasion that they were aware of the particular incidents, explained their version of what happened, and assured Cox Cable that any problems with their practices would be corrected. [R. 102]

Lewis was an employee of Burnup & Sims, hired to install the cable on Gulf Power's poles. [R. 1] Lewis' supervisor instructed him not to overtighten the utility pole guy wire that he was installing, as that would tend to slacken Gulf Power's down guys on

the poles. [R. 100] Lewis was also instructed not to touch Gulf Power's down guys and warned of the danger of putting slack in Gulf Power's guy wires. [R. 100] During the installation, on July 16, 1981, Lewis suffered electrical burns when a guy wire he was tightening became charged with electrical current. [R. 1] Lewis sued Gulf Power in August 1984 for damages as a result of his injuries. [R. 1]

Gulf Power promptly filed a third-party complaint against Cox Cable and Burnup & Sims. [R. 5; A. 23] Gulf Power made three substantive allegations against Cox Cable¹: first, Gulf Power alleged that, by the terms of their agreement, Cox Cable was required to completely indemnify Gulf Power for any damages adjudged against it as a result of Cox Cable's actions pursuant to the contract. [R. 5] The indemnity provision of the agreement states, in pertinent part, as follows:

Licensee [Cox Cable] shall indemnify, protect and save the Licensor [Gulf Power] forever harmless from and against any and all claims and demands for damages to property and injury or death to any persons including, but not restricted to, employees of Licensee and employees of any contractor or sub-contractor performing work for Licensee ... which may arise out of or be caused by the erection, maintenance, presence, use or removal of said attachments or by the proximity of the respective cables, wires, apparatus and appliances of the Licensee, or by any act of Licensee on or in the vicinity of Licensor's poles, or on, or in the vicinity of any other poles occupied jointly by Licensor and Licensee regardless of ownership of said poles.

[R. 177-78]² Second, Gulf Power alleged that Cox Cable breached paragraph 9 of the agreement by "failing to utilize employees and contractors who were experienced in

¹ Gulf Power's claim against Burnup & Sims was subsequently dismissed by the trial court. [R. 91]

In the courts below, Gulf Power has also relied upon language in the agreement that "complete indemnification" was contemplated [R. 172], that "full indemnification" was a prime condition of the agreement [R. 173], and that Cox Cable assumed all risks of entry to the property [R. 178].

working with and around energized electrical conductors." [R. 5] This allegation tracked paragraph 9 of the agreement which states, in pertinent part:

In the installation and maintenance of its facilities Licensee shall utilize employees and contractors who are experienced in working with and around energized electrical conductors.

[R. 177] Third, Gulf Power alleged that Cox Cable was negligent and that Cox Cable's negligence was "the sole and proximate cause of the Plaintiff's alleged injuries." [R. 5-6] Gulf Power sought judgment against Cox Cable for "all damages that are adjudged against the Defendant, Gulf Power Company in favor of the Plaintiff." [R. 6]

Gulf Power subsequently obtained summary judgment against Lewis. [R. 51] The appellate court reversed, Lewis v. Gulf Power Co., 501 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 508 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1987), holding that a jury question was presented on the sufficiency of any notice given by Gulf Power of the dangers of electricity. Id. at 8. The trial court thereafter limited Lewis' claim against Gulf Power to the sufficiency of the warning, if any, given by Gulf Power of dangerous conditions arising from unsafe work practices of cable workers on its utility poles. [R. 103]

Gulf Power settled Lewis' claim in July 1989. [R. 203] In October 1989, Gulf Power filed a notice for trial pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.440 and the trial court set Gulf Power's claims for trial. [SR.] Cox Cable had filed a second motion for summary judgment in June 1989 [R. 167] and amended the motion after the case was set for trial [R. 205]. Cox Cable sought summary judgment on all of Gulf Power's claims and relied, in part, upon the affidavits of Larry F. Lewis, Cox Cable's General Manager in Pensacola [R. 170] and Richard A. Mueller, Cox Cable's Director of Operations Engineering [R. 201]. These affidavits established that Cox Cable did not breach paragraph 9 of the agreement, as alleged in Gulf Power's third-party complaint, because Cox Cable had no employees on the job site and hired an experienced contractor (Burnup & Sims) to perform the work.

[R. 171; 202] The summary judgment hearing was held on January 3, 1990, three weeks before the date Gulf Power's claims were then scheduled to be tried. [T. 1]³

The trial court, per the Honorable Lacey A. Collier, granted summary judgment in favor of Cox Cable on all of Gulf Power's claims. [R. 216; A. 30] Judge Collier found that the contractual indemnity provision was unenforceable under Florida law because it did not expressly state in clear and unequivocal terms an intent that Cox Cable would indemnify Gulf Power against the consequences of Gulf Power's own wrongful acts. [R. 218-19] The trial court also determined that section 725.06, Florida Statutes [A. 43], broadly applies to agreements incidental to construction and operated to bar Gulf Power's indemnity claim. [R. 219] On the breach of contact claim, Judge Collier found paragraph 9 clear and unambiguous, and that the unrefuted evidence of record demonstrated Cox Cable's full compliance with that provision. [R. 217] Finally, it must be concluded that Judge Collier found Gulf Power did not assert a contribution claim against Cox Cable; after hearing argument of counsel on that point [T. 12; 15-16; 29], the trial court ruled that Gulf Power take nothing by its third-party complaint. [R. 219]

Gulf Power did not seek rehearing or clarification of the final summary judgment, nor did Gulf Power request leave to amend its third-party complaint. Gulf Power appealed the judgment to the First District Court of Appeal. [R. 220]

The appellate court reversed in <u>Gulf Power Co. v. Cox Cable Corp.</u>, 570 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) [A. 34]. On the contractual indemnity claim, the court held that a less stringent standard of specificity applies in cases of joint negligence between the indemnitor and indemnitee, <u>id</u>. at 382, and that factual issues remained concerning whether the parties were joint tortfeasors. On the breach of contract claim, the court held

³ The trial was subsequently continued by the trial court upon stipulation of the parties. <u>See</u> [T. 39]

that paragraph 9 must be construed in light of the entire agreement in determining the parties' intent, and that a fact finder could reasonably infer that Cox Cable had a duty to correct or warn of a potentially dangerous situation. <u>Id</u>. at 381-82 and n.3. Section 725.06 was held not to apply in this case because the court felt Gulf Power was not seeking to have improvements made; rather, Cox Cable sought a license to use Gulf Power's property. <u>Id</u>. at 383. Finally, on the negligence allegation, the court held that, although the third-party complaint appeared "somewhat deficient", it was not so deficient as to require granting summary judgment, and that Gulf Power was entitled to amend. Id. at 382 n.2.

Cox Cable petitioned this Court to accept jurisdiction based upon express and direct conflict between the decision of the court below and prior decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal; that conflict exists on the standard which contractual indemnity language must meet in order to require indemnification of an indemnitee for the consequences of its own wrongful conduct where both the indemnitor and indemnitee may be at fault. On July 8, 1991, the Court issued its Order accepting jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellate court erred in its determination of the sufficiency of the contractual indemnity language relied upon by Gulf Power. Under the standard adopted by this Court in Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equipment Co., 374 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1979) [A. 39] and followed by other Florida appellate courts, an agreement will not be construed to provide indemnity for the consequences of a party's own wrongful conduct unless that intent is clearly and unequivocally expressed in the agreement. That standard applies both in cases where the indemnitee is solely at fault and where the indemnitor and indemnitee are jointly liable. The indemnity provision in this case does not clearly and unequivocally require Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power for the consequences of Gulf Power's acts and cannot be enforced to require Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power under any possible set of facts which Gulf Power could prove at trial. As a matter of law, Gulf Power's liability to Lewis was based upon its direct act or omission, not vicarious liability due to any conduct of Cox Cable, and the indemnity provision is not enforceable even if the parties were found to be joint tortfeasors. The trial court correctly made that determination in finding Gulf Power's indemnity claim unenforceable under Florida law.

The appellate court erred in construing the parties' agreement beyond the issue pled by Gulf Power and, in doing so, fundamentally altered the parties' undertaking. Gulf Power, through its specifically worded third-party complaint, limited the breach of contract claim to paragraph 9 of the agreement. The trial court found the meaning of paragraph 9 to be clear and unambiguous, and its application was a question of law for the court. The appellate court substituted its own interpretation of the entire contract, effectively changing the plain language of paragraph 9, and reversed upon a newly found duty imposed on Cox Cable by other provisions of the agreement. The unrefuted evidence

stands in the record, as found by the trial court, that Cox Cable did not breach the plain terms of paragraph 9.

Gulf Power's third-party complaint does not assert a contribution claim against Cox Cable, nor does it manifest any intent to do so. The third-party complaint attempts to shift the entire liability for Lewis' injury to Cox Cable, not to share that liability. Gulf Power's pleading asserts that Cox Cable was "the sole and proximate cause" (emphasis supplied) of Lewis' injuries and sought judgment against Cox Cable for "all damages" awarded against Gulf Power in favor of Lewis. Gulf Power's position was plainly stated and Cox Cable was not required to seek dismissal or more definite statement of these allegations. Moreover, Gulf Power never sought to amend its pleading nor asked for rehearing of the trial court's order; at this advanced stage of the proceeding, Gulf Power should not be allowed to now seek contribution.

Finally, even if the agreement were sufficient under <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u>, the agreement does not comply with section 725.06, Florida Statutes, and cannot be enforced to require Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power in this case. The statute should be afforded liberal application, consistent with its remedial purpose. Section 725.06 is broadly worded to control the use of indemnity agreements in construction-related contracts. The statute has been applied by other courts outside of the narrow scope imposed by the appellate court in this case. The nature and object of the parties' agreement, containing provisions for construction of Cox Cable's plant on Gulf Power's poles, warrant application of the statute. Because the agreement fails to contain either a monetary limitation on indemnity or specific consideration for the indemnity provision, as required by the statute, it cannot be enforced to require Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power under the circumstances of this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE COURT APPLIED AN INCORRECT STANDARD IN DETERMINING THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE INDEMNITY PROVISION.

The district court of appeal applied an erroneous legal standard in determining the sufficiency of the indemnity provision in the parties' agreement. This Court has applied the same standard in cases where the indemnitee is solely negligent as where the parties are jointly liable: an intent to indemnify the indemnitee from the consequences of its own wrongful conduct must be clearly and unequivocally expressed in the agreement. In this case, the appellate court ruled that a less stringent standard applies in cases of joint negligence. Under the correct legal standard, the indemnity provision here is unenforceable regardless of whether Gulf Power was solely negligent or the parties were jointly responsible for causing Lewis' injuries. Therefore, the decision of the court below should be reversed.

Florida courts have taken a narrow view of indemnity agreements which purport to indemnify a party against its own wrongful acts. Such contracts are viewed with disfavor, Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equipment Co., 374 So.2d 487, 489 (Fla. 1979), and should be strictly construed against the party seeking indemnification. United Parcel Service of America, Inc. v. Enforcement Security Corp., 525 So.2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. denied, 525 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1988).

In <u>University Plaza Shopping Center, Inc. v. Stewart</u>, 272 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1973), this Court adopted a strict standard for determining whether an agreement requires indemnification for a party's wrongful conduct:

[W]e choose to follow the rationale in the two Florida Power & Light cases and Gulf requiring a <u>specific</u> provision protecting the indemnitee from liability caused by his own negligence.

<u>Id</u>. at 511 (emphasis supplied). In settling on this 'bright-line' rule, the Court stated that general language providing indemnity for "any and all claims" is not sufficient to include losses caused by the indemnitee's negligence. <u>See id</u>. at 509-10. The <u>Gulf</u> case relied on by the Court held that:

[I]n order for an indemnity clause or contract to indemnify against an indemnitee's own negligence, the clause or contract must expressly state that such liability is undertaken by the indemnitor.

Gulf Oil Corp. v. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Co., 196 So.2d 456, 459 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 201 So.2d 893 (Fla. 1967) (emphasis supplied).

Although <u>University Plaza</u> involved an indemnitee's sole negligence, this Court has expressly held that standard to apply in cases of joint negligence between the indemnitor and indemnitee. <u>Charles Poe Masonry, Inc.</u>, 374 So.2d at 490. In <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u>, the Court stated:

We are not unmindful of the fact that the majority in <u>University Plaza</u> limited its holding to instances where liability is based solely on the fault of the indemnitee. However, the public policy underlying that decision applies with equal force here, that is, to instances where the indemnitor and indemnitee are jointly liable. Under classical principles of indemnity, courts of law rightfully frown upon the underwriting of wrongful conduct, whether it stands alone or is accompanied by other wrongful acts. <u>Stuart v. Hertz Corp.</u> Hence we extend the holding in <u>University Plaza</u> to cases where the indemnitor and indemnitee are jointly liable.

<u>Id</u>. at 489-90. These decisions of the Court plainly require the same degree of specificity for indemnification in cases of joint negligence that is required where the indemnitee is solely at fault.

<u>Charles Poe Masonry</u> and its progeny have established the parameters of the 'clear and unequivocal' requirement in the context of joint negligence. The language in that case required the indemnitor to assume "all responsibility for claims asserted by any

person whatever" and hold the indemnitee "harmless from all such claims." 374 So.2d at 489. The Court said that language,

employs exactly the sort of "general terms" which we held in <u>University Plaza</u> to not disclose an intention to indemnify for consequences arising from the wrongful acts of the indemnitee. The language of the lease agreement demonstrates nothing more than an undertaking by Poe to hold Spring Lock harmless from any vicarious liability ...

Id. The Court distinguished Leonard L. Farber Co. v. Jaksch, 335 So.2d 847 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976) as a case involving language that was sufficiently clear and unequivocal in the context of joint negligence. The agreement in Farber purported to indemnify for losses "occasioned wholly or in part" by any act or omission of the indemnitee. 374 So.2d at 489. This Court approved the holding that the "in part" language:

... manifested lessee's clear and unequivocal intent to indemnify lessor in cases where the lessee and lessor are found to be jointly at fault.

Id.; see also, Marino v. Weiner, 415 So.2d 149, 151 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The only other language held to meet the clear and unequivocal standard in cases of joint negligence is language which indemnifies for all losses except those caused by the indemnitee's sole negligence. See, e.g., Mitchell Maintenance Systems v. State, Department of Transportation, 442 So.2d 276, 278 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); compare Leadership Housing Systems of Florida, Inc. v. T & S Electric, Inc., 384 So.2d 733, 734 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (language purporting to "forever indemnify and save harmless [indemnitee] from any obligation, liability, lien, claim, demand, cause or causes of action whatsoever" did not meet the standard of Charles Poe Masonry).

The decision in <u>United Parcel Service of America</u>, Inc. v. <u>Enforcement Security Corp.</u>, 525 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), <u>rev. denied</u>, 525 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1988), does not support the appellate court's conclusion that the degree of specificity required for

indemnification in cases of joint negligence is less stringent. The agreement in that case provided broad indemnification, but expressly excluded losses arising out of the sole negligence of the indemnitee. <u>Id</u>. at 425. The court correctly referred to similar language held sufficient in <u>Mitchell</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the "wholly or in part" cases (approved in <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u>), in determining that this language was "clear and unequivocal." <u>Id</u>. at 426.

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