0/A11-4-91

SID J. WHITE
AUG 28 1991

CLERK SURREME COURTE

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 77,247

COX CABLE CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

GULF POWER COMPANY

Respondent.

PROCEEDING FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, FOR
DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT, GULF POWER COMPANY

J. NIXON DANIEL, III
Beggs & Lane
Post Office Box 12950
Pensacola, Florida 32576-2950
(904) 432-2451
Attorney for Respondent
Florida Bar No. 228761

#

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

It is hornbook law that the provisions of a contract must be construed within the context of the entire document. See <u>Union</u>

<u>Central Life Insurance Co. v. Neuhoff</u>, 24 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1946);

<u>Triple E Development Co. v. Florida Gold Citrus Corp.</u>, 51 So.2d

435 (Fla. 1951). It is further the duty of the court to place itself in the situation of the parties and from a consideration of the surrounding circumstances, the occasion and the apparent objects of the parties, to determine the meaning and the intent of the language employed. <u>Blackhawk Heating & Plumbing Co. v.</u>

<u>Datalease Financial Corp.</u>, 302 So.2d 404, (Fla. 1974). The petitioner argues that the First District Court of Appeal erred when it followed the simple rules of contract construction. The petitioner further asserts that the court should only have considered the language found in paragraph (9) and should not have interpreted paragraph (9) consistent with the entire

document. This is clearly in contravention of well-established rules of contract construction.

The First District Court of Appeal was clearly correct when it held that §725.06 Florida Statutes did not apply to the agreement entered into between Gulf Power and Cox Cable. By the inclusion of the term "owners of real property", the legislature expressed its intent to exclude contracts that did not involve owners of real property with those other enumerated parties in the statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976). Furthermore, the contract entered into between Gulf Power and Cox Cable is not a construction contract at all. It is plainly a licensing agreement which grants Cox Cable the right to use Gulf Power's poles so that it might provide service to its customers.

This Court should review only that portion of the First
District Court of Appeals' opinion which deals with the indemnity
provision of the contract entered into by Gulf Power and Cox
Cable. The First District Court of Appeal has applied the
correct standard in determining that the indemnity provision is
enforceable. It is respectfully urged that this Court affirm the
action of the First District Court of Appeal in that matter.
However, if this Court decides to review other aspects of the
First District Court of Appeals' decision, it is clear that the

First District Court of Appeal correctly applied the principles of law which deal with contribution, breach of contract and statutory construction to those issues. It is respectfully urged that this Court also affirm the First District Court of Appeals' action and allow this case to be returned to the trial level so that Gulf Power's claim might be properly litigated.

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE PETITIONER SOUGHT AND WAS GRANTED REVIEW OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN THE SUPREME COURT ON THE BASIS THAT AN EXPRESS CONFLICT EXISTED BETWEEN THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AND PRIOR SUPREME COURT CASES CONCERNING THE ENFORCEABILITY OF INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS IN CASES OF JOINT NEGLIGENCE AND WHETHER THE GRANT OF CERTIORARI REVIEW ON THAT BASIS SHOULD CONFINE REVIEW TO THE ISSUE OF THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THE INDEMNITY CLAUSE IN THE CONTRACT BETWEEN GULF POWER AND COX CABLE.

In the petitioner's brief on jurisdiction, it set forth the argument as follows:

The decision of the court below expressly and directly conflicts with the decision with the decision of the supreme court and with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the minimum standards for enforcement of indemnity contracts in cases of joint negligence.

(Pet.B.J.- 5).

In the petitioner's summary of argument in the Brief on Jurisdiction, it states that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with <u>Charles Poe Masonry Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equipment Co.</u> 374 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1979). The petitioner requests that the Court accept jurisdiction under Article 5, Section 3, (b)(3), Florida Constitution, to resolve the conflict between the decision of the

Masonry. As reason for accepting jurisdiction, the petitioner states that the Court should resolve this conflict because these agreements often play an important role in common commercial transactions and the law in Florida should be clarified on the minimum expression of intent necessary to insure enforceability. (Pet.B.J.- 4). There is no other basis for the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to be invoked. In its conclusion, the petitioner requests this Court to accept jurisdiction and provide guidance on that point of law (Pet.B.J.-9).

This Court granted Cox Cable's petition for certiorari review of the First District Court of Appeal's decision finding that a conflict did exist. This court held in Anson v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958), that in the constitutional plan for discretionary review in cases alleging conflict, the powers of the Court to review decisions of the district court are limited and strictly prescribed. The Court further stated that conflict jurisdiction should be used to settle issues where there is a "real and embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority." Id. at 811. The Court went on to state that the conflict must be such that one decision would overrule the other if reached by the same court. Id.

In <u>Little v. State</u>, 206, So.2d 9, 10, this Court held that conflict exists when a decision is in direct conflict with other appellate decisions on the <u>same point of law</u>. See also <u>Bankers</u> and <u>Shippers Insurance Company of New York v. Phoenix Assurance Company of New York</u>, 210 So.2d 715 (Fla.1968).

Therefore, a conflict must exist on identical points of law before jurisdiction lies with this Court to review the decision of the court below. The petitioner has not alleged that the First District of Appeal's decisions concerning the issues of contribution, breach of contract and the applicability of Section 725.06 Florida Statutes to the contract between the parties below are in conflict with any prior decision of this Court or any decision of a sister district court of appeal. However, the petitioner now seeks to reargue those decisions as well. Each of the First District Court's holdings concerning breach of contract, contribution or Section 725.06 Florida Statutes were decided on a distinct and separate point of law from that presented in the petitioner's brief on jurisdiction. The Court did not accept jurisdiction of this matter based on any conflict between the district court of appeal's decision in the matters of contribution, breach of contract and the applicability of §725.06 Fla.Stat. but on the issue of the enforceability of indemnity

agreements in cases of joint negligence.

The purpose the Florida Constitution authorizing the Supreme Court to review by certiorari the decisions of district courts of appeal when a direct conflict exists on the same point of law is to reduce to an absolute minimum conflicts in the body of law of the state and to make law announced in decisions of appellate courts of the state uniform throughout. The scope of review in the Supreme Court is limited by such purpose. N&L Auto Parts Co. v. Doman, 117 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1960). See also Board of Commissioners of State Institutions v. Tallahassee Bank and Trust Co., 116 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1960).

There being no conflict between the First District Court of Appeal's rulings on the issues of contribution, breach of contract and the applicability of Section 725.06 Florida Statutes to the contract in the case below, this Court should deny the petitioner the right to reargue those points of law on the merits. The grant of certiorari review by way of conflict jurisdiction should not convey to the petitioner the right to relitigate all issues on the merits. Therefore, this Court is urged to strike the arguments of the petitioner which do not expressly and directly address the issue raised in Cox Cable's jurisdictional brief.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY APPLIED THE EXISTING STANDARD IN DETERMINING THAT THE INDEMNITY CLAUSE FOUND IN THE CONTRACT BETWEEN GULF POWER AND COX CABLE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ENTITLE GULF POWER TO BE INDEMNIFIED FOR THE NEGLIGENT ACTS OF COX CABLE.

The District Court of Appeal correctly applied the current legal standard in determining whether the indemnity clause found in the parties' contract was sufficiently clear and unequivocal to require Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power for damages Gulf Power paid to Michael Lewis. Florida courts have taken a narrow view of indemnity contracts which purport to indemnify a party against its own wrongful act. Here, however, the facts are materially different from those in the cases cited by the petitioner. Gulf Power is entitled to indemnification for damages resulting from the injuries suffered by Mr. Lewis. Contracts which would purport to indemnify a party against its own wrongful acts are viewed with disfavor, University Plaza Shopping Center, Inc. v. Stewart, 272 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1973) and Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equipment Co., 374 So.2d 487, 489 (Fla. 1979). The petitioner correctly states that Charles Poe Masonry, and its progeny have established as a parameter the requirement that the language in a contract be "clear and unequivocal" in the context of joint negligence. What the petitioner has not argued, and what the trial court did not consider, is that indemnity clauses must be interpreted in the context of the remainder of the contract in which they are found. If the intent of the parties is clear, then full indemnification is required.

It is common knowledge that Cox Cable is not a small business entity. Rather, Cox, at the time that this contract was entered into, was one of the largest cable corporations in the United States. The reason a Burnup & Sims employee was involved in work on or around Gulf Power's poles was that growth experienced by Cox Cable in the cable industry required it to subcontrct much of its work. A corporation of this size is obviously knowledgeable and sophisticated in its business dealing. Cox Cable entered into a voluntary contract which, taken as a whole, includes a promise by Cox Cable to indemnify Gulf Power Company for any and all accidents which may occur in the installation or operation of Cox Cable's devices or lines. The agreement clearly shows that complete indemnification of Gulf Power was contemplated and was part of the consideration of the contract (R-5, Attachment A, page 1). Contemplated indemnification is found throughout the contract and is

demonstrated in the following specific provisions:

Whereas, complete indemnification of licensor is contemplated hereunder

## (R-5, Attachment A, page 1);

...[N]ow and at all times the assent by the licensor to that requested by the licensee shall not deprive licensor of <u>full</u> indemnification which is the prime condition of this undertaking.

## (R-5, Attachment A, page 2);

Licensee shall indemnify, protect and save the licensor forever harmless from and against any and all claims and demands for damages to property and injury or death to any persons including but not restricted to employees of the licensee and employees of any contractor or subcontractor performing work for licensee and also including payments made under the Workers' Compensation Law or under any plan for employees disability or death benefits which may arise out of or be caused by the erection, maintenance, presence, use or removal of said attachment or by the proximity of respective cables wires, apparatus and appliances of the licensee or by any act of licensee on or in

the vicinity of licensor's poles....

It is understood that the right of entry is granted upon the express condition that all risk thereas to be assumed by the licensee and its employees. Licensee shall carry insurance to protect the parties hereto from

and against any and all claims....

## (R-5, Attachment A, page 6, 7).

The contract also requires Cox Cable to carry insurance to

protect the parties from any and all claims, demands, actions, judgments, costs, expenses and liabilities of every name and nature which may arise or result directly or indirectly from or by reason of such loss, injury or damage (R-5, Attachment A, paragraph 10). No more could have been done in a business transaction between two sophisticated corporations to insure that both understood that full indemnification of Gulf Power was required by the contract for <u>any damages</u> that could arise from the installation or operation of Cox Cable appliances.

In <u>University Plaza Shopping Center</u>, Inc. vs. Stewart, 272
So.2d 507, 512 (Fla.1973), the Supreme Court required that
indemnity clauses contain language which is <u>specific enough</u> that
all parties <u>understand</u> that indemnification would be required.
Six years later, this Court in <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u>, Inc. v.

<u>Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equipment Co.</u>, 374 So.2d 487, 190
(Fla. 1979), extended the holding found in <u>University Plaza</u>, to
cases where the indemnitor and indemnitee were jointly liable.
While <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u> extended the holding of <u>University</u>
<u>Plaza</u>, it did not alter the holding found in <u>Farber v. Jaksch</u>,
335 So.2d 847 (Fla.4th DCA 1976). Also, subsequent cases decided
by the district courts of appeal a more permissive standard when
interpreting indemnity clauses in contracts between joint tort

feasors has been applied. In <u>Farber</u>, the district court of appeal found the language in an indemnity clause sufficiently explicit when it stated:

Lessee shall indemnify lessor and save harmless from suits, actions, damages liability and expense in connection with the loss of life, bodily or personal injury or property damage arising from or out of any occurrence or occasion wholly or in part by any act or omission by the lessee, its agents, contractors, employees and servants.

Id at 848.

This language, <u>combined</u> with requirements that lessee maintain insurance at its own cost and expense, was sufficiently "clear and unequivocal" to make the lessee liable to fully indemnify the lessor for their joint liability where joint liability resulted from the negligence of both the lessor and the lessee. Id.

In <u>Seaboard Coastline Railroad Co. v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 361 So.2d 209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), the First District Court of Appeal interpreted yet another indemnity clause. In <u>Seaboard Coastline</u>, the railroad allowed the city to connect its traffic signal to the railroad warning system at a certain intersection. The indemnity clause contained in the contract stated:

Railroad shall have no responsibility or liability for any loss of life or injury to

person or loss of or damage to property, growing out of or arising from the irregular operation of trafficking signals of the county and/or the railroad train approaching warning signals resulting from or any manner attributable to the interconnection of the county's traffic signals...and county insofar as it lawfully may agrees to indemnify and save railroad harmless from all such loss, injury or damage.

Id at 211. The <u>Seaboard</u> court held that the indemnity contract was written in "clear and unequivocal" language and placed on the city the sole responsibility for any and all damages arising out of or attributable to the irregular operation of the traffic signal.

In two post <u>Charles Poe Masonry</u> cases, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that language similar to that found in <u>Farber</u> was sufficiently clear and unequivocal to require the indemnitor to indemnify the indemnitee even though they were jointly responsible for the accident. See <u>Marino v. Weiner</u>, 415 So.2d 149 (Fla 4th DCA 1982); <u>Mitchell Maintenance Systems v. State Department of Transportation</u>, 442 So.2d 276 (Fla 4th DCA 1983); furthermore, <u>United Parcel Service of America, Inc. v. Enforcement Security Corp.</u>, 525 So.2d 424 (Fla.1st 1987), rev.den. 525 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1988). See also <u>R.C.A. v. Pennwalt Corporation</u>, 577 So.2d 620 (Fla.3d DCA 1991). <u>United Parcel</u>,

clearly supports the holding found in the case before this Court.

In <u>United Parcel</u>, the Court found the following language to be clear and unequivocal:

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